A THESIS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF SCIENCE

A New Correction Algorithm of Servo Track Writing Error for High Track Density Disk Drives



Anil Kumar Khambampati

Department of Marine Instrumentation Engineering GRADUATE SCHOOL CHEJU NATIONAL UNIVERSITY

2005.12.

A New Correction Algorithm of Servo Track Writing Error for High Track Density Disk Drives

Anil kumar Khambampati (Supervised by Professor Jinho Bae)

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirement for the degree of Master of Science

2005.12.

This thesis has been examined and approved.

Thesis director, Joon-Young Kim, Prof. of Marine Instrumentation Engineering.

Jinho Bae, Prof. of Marine Instrumentation Engineering.

Dong-Guk Paeng, Prof. of Marine Instrumentation Engineering.

2005.12 Date

Department of Marine Instrumentation Engineering GRADUATE SCHOOL CHEJU NATIONAL UNIVERSITY

Contents

	ii
SUMMARY	iv
LIST OF FIGURES	vi
LIST OF TABLE	viii
I. INTRODUCTION	1
II. HEAD POSITIONING SERVO CONTROL SYTEM	
1.Servo Track Writing Error	7
2.System Model	
3.Design of Baseline Controller	17
┃ 제주대학교 중앙도서관	
III. DESIGN OF SERVO TRACK WRITING ERROR	
ESTIMATOR	20
IV. SIMULATION RESULTS	27
V. CONCLUSIONS	40
VI. APPENDIX	41
REFERENCES	42
AKNOWLEDGEMENT	47

- i -

가

1

•



•

•

•

(servo track

writing error)

가

•

•

가

가

•

- ii -

가.,

•

•

(feed forward manner)

,

,



,

•

- iii -

SUMMARY

Disk drives serve as the primary storage medium in modern computer systems and networks. A typical disk drive comprises of one or more rigid magnetic storage discs mounted on the spindle motor which rotates at a constant high speed. The prevalent trend of hard disk drives is toward small hard disks with increasing larger capacities which implies track width has to be small. Accurate positioning of head is one of the main prerequisite for the increase of further track density in disk drives. The objective of servo controller is to position the head at the center of track in the presence of external disturbances. The servo tracks of hard disk drives are written at the time of manufacture with the help of equipment called *servo track writer*. The vibration of disk or head during servo writing process induces servo *track writing error*. The perturbed shaped of the tracks complicates the head positioning because servo controller needs to reposition the head during the track following to keep up with the constantly changing radius of the track centerline with respect to the center of the spinning disk. This induces unwanted head motion thus causes interference i.e. inner track path gets interfered with the outer track path and hence may cause the customers data to be lost and hence not recoverable data error. Especially, this is severe in case of high track density disk drives which effects directly performance of disk drives.

- iv -

Therefore, to avoid limitations on the track pitch and for the reliable operation of the disk drive, we need to estimate the *servo track writing error* and compensate for it.

In this study, we propose a new way of correcting for the servo track writing error. We introduce state predictor that uses position error signal and controller output to estimate the *servo track writing error*. The predictor error has lot of information about servo track writing error. Therefore, predictor error is processed to estimate servo track writing error which is compensated in feed forward manner. Our proposed algorithm is robust to input disturbances. Moreover, it is efficient in reducing servo track writing error, computationally simple and has fast convergence compared to previous algorithms. Finally, we present the simulation results to demonstrate that the proposed algorithm is very effective in reducing the servo track writing error.



- V -

LIST OF FIGURES

Fig. 1. Arrangement of four servo bursts in a servo sector
Fig. 2. PES versus relative head position to track center(a) Amplitude of readback signal from burst(b) Primary and quadrature PES
Fig. 3. Servo track writing error10
Fig. 4. Relationship between PES and head position12
Fig. 5.Written-In RRO estimator in prior work20
Fig. 6. Proposed written-in RRO estimator
Fig. 7. Frequency response of FIR comb filter
Fig. 8. Estimation error due to initial head position in case of prior work31
Fig. 9. Estimation error due to initial head velocity in case of prior work32
Fig. 10. Estimation error due to initial bias torque in case of prior work33
Fig. 11. Head position due to initial head position in case of prior work34

- vi -

Fig. 15. Estimation error after comb filter in case of proposed controller...38



LIST OF TABLE

 Table 1. Specification of 1 inch disk drive used for simulation......27



- viii -

I. INTRODUCTION

Hard disk drives serve as an important data storage medium for data The data storage density of hard disk drives is processing systems. continually increasing due to the advent of giant magneto-resistive (GMR) head. The track density of the current hard disk drives is 168,000 tracks per inch (TPI) and the equivalent track pitch is 0.15 µm. Data is read from or written to a track with the help of giant magneto-resistive (GMR) head which converts digital data into magnetic pulses and vice versa. The head floats several micro inches over the disk surface while the disk spins about its center at a constant angular velocity. To properly locate head during read or write process, a closed-loop servo mechanism is generally implemented that uses the servo data written to the disk surface to align the head to the desired track. Accurate positioning of heads is one of the most important prerequisites for extending further the track density in hard disk drives. The mechanical disturbances contributing primarily to the positioning error can be divided into two categories, repeatable runout (RRO) and nonrepeatable runout (NRRO) (Abramovitch et al., 1998; Guo et al., 1999). The source of *RRO* is the discrepancy between the center of servo tracks and the center of spindle motor, while NRRO originates from several sources such as disk flutter, spindle vibration, and windage induced slider vibration.

Much research has been devoted to the compensation of the mechanical disturbances, especially *RRO* disturbance. The periodic nature of *RRO* disturbance allowed the adaptive feed-forward canceller (Messner *et al.*, 1994; Sacks *et al.*, 1995; Weerasooriya *et al.*, 1996) or repetitive

- 1 -

controller (Kempf et al., 1992; Tomizuka et al., 1989) to reduce significantly the effect of *RRO* disturbance. The repetitive controller can be classified as internal model based and external model based. Internal model based controllers use Q-filter algorithm where as external based controllers use parameters adaptation scheme and learning algorithm. Repetitive controllers developed using Internal Model Principle (Kempf et al., 1992; Tomizuka et al., 1989) can provide exact cancellation of the periodic disturbance in steady state but it is not robust to system parameter variations when it is disconnected from the feedback loop. The internal model based approaches converged fast but changed the loop gain i.e. the magnitude of the intermediate harmonics are changed. In case of external model based once converged does not change the loop gain. The adaptive RRO compensators (Messner et al., 1994; Sacks et al., 1995; Weerasooriya et al., 1996) are most widely used in industry because of robustness to plant parameter variations and simplicity in implementation. In (Sacks et al., 1995) various adaptive feed forward methods for RRO compensation are proposed. Of the adaptive feed forward methods, the feed through technique is superior. Multiple cancellation of harmonics using adaptive feed forward cancellation (AFC) is not effective as the repetitive controller and the convergence rate is slow compared to repetitive controller. AFC can remove the harmonics selectively while repetitive controller removes all integer multiples of harmonics. Apart from the case of RRO, the inverse notch filter at the predicted NRRO frequency has been used in industry for the attenuation of NRRO disturbance.

As the track density becomes higher, another kind of disturbance that is not well known to the academic world has more significant effect on the performance of disk drives. In ideal disk drive system, the tracks of the data

- 2 -

storage disk are non perturbed circles situated about the center of the disk and track centerline is located at known constant radius from the center of the disk. Due to complexity and precision, servo tracks of disk drives are written at the time of manufacture with the equipment of servo track writer the process is called Off-line Servo Writing or Low level formatting. The NRRO disturbance during the servo track writing process causes the written servo tracks to deviate from the ideal circular shape. The offset distance between the ideal servo track and the wavy actual servo track is the servo track writing error. It is synchronous with the disk rotation. Therefore, it is one kind of RRO disturbance and has been well known as written-in RRO in industry. The perturbed shape of the tracks (written-in RRO) causes the head positioning function complicated as the servo control needs to move the head continuously to reposition during the track following to keep with the constantly changing radius of the track centerline with respect to the center of the spinning disk. The written-in RRO induces the unwanted head motion because the servo system attempts to make the position error zero. The unwanted head motion encroaches on the adjacent tracks i.e. inner track path gets interfered with the outer track path and hence may cause the customers data to be lost and hence not recoverable data error. Therefore, estimation and compensation of servo track writing error is very essential in enhancing the reliability of high track density disk drives.

In conventional systems, the *STW* (Servo Track Writer) is used to measure the *written-in RRO* for each track directly and generate the compensation values for each track to position the head at the center of the ideal track such that the head trace the ideal servo track. In the above case the servo track writer has to measure the *written-in RRO* of each track of disk one track at a time. Present disk drives have two or more disks with a

- 3 -

track density of 168000 TPI, rotation speed of 7200 revolutions per minute(RPM), therefore the STW has to be busy for several hours to generate the compensation values for each track for one disk drive. Servo track writers are very expensive and there are very few servo track writers at the manufacturing place. Thus, if the servo track writers are tied up for several hours for one disk drive, the manufacturing throughput and efficiency are decreased. Therefore, it will be advantageous if there was a system which can generate written-in RRO values for the compensation of written-in RRO with out using STW which can lead to increase in manufacturing throughput. The compensation of the servo track writing error with out the use of STW has been widely used in industry. A noncasual filter to generate the compensation values was proposed (Ho et al., 2000, 2001) in which non-casual time-domain impulse response was measured and it was convolved with position error signal (PES) to estimate the servo track writing error. The compensation values are called embedded runout correction values (ERC) which are stored with in the servo portions of each servo sector in a disk. During the track following operation when ever the head passes over the servo sector it reads the previously stored ERC compensation values and produces the compensation signal which is fed to the track following compensator which helps the head to follow the ideal track. However, the non-casual impulse response obtained by above description is not accurate as the modeling of the transfer function is done in non real time, and it is impractical to develop the non-casual impulse response of the inverse function for an individual disk drive. The method of measuring the impulse response more quickly than others was proposed (Melrose et al., 2003) where drives actual response was used in real time. The inverse impulse response was calculated by introducing an impulse to

- 4 -

the head servo system and measuring the system response in time domain. The impulse may be written to ERC field of servo track or injected into PES signal derived from the servo sector. The response is transformed into frequency domain to form error transfer function, reciprocal is taken, transformed into time domain to form inverse impulse response which is convolved with the position error signal (PES) to generate the compensation values. The compensation values for all tracks can be obtained by convolving the PES values with impulse response obtained from writing impulse inputs to a single track. Accordingly, if the impulse response is obtained by writing impulse inputs to a single track it is advantageous to choose the track which is located outwards from the center of the disk as the outer tracks are more effected than inner tracks due to written-in RRO. In (Morris et al., 2000), the transfer function of the servo system was measured at selected frequencies that are integral multiples of disk rotation because RRO component of position error signal (PES) only has frequency components that are integral multiples of spindle frequency. This occurs because the RRO is only measured at servo fields and servo fields are equally spaced around the disk. Transfer function is measured at discrete harmonics between the spindle frequency and one-half the number of the servo fields multiplied by the spindle frequency to obtain the timedomain sequence of runout values. Frequency-domain impulse response was measured and it was divided by the Fast Fourier Transform of PES which results in sequence of frequency-domain compensation values. The inverse Fast Fourier Transform of frequency-domain compensation values produces a sequence of time-domain compensation values which are used as the compensation signal in the servo sector which the controller uses to align head to ideal track. However, the system parameters effect the estimation of

- 5 -

the servo track writing error. The initial conditions of the plant (position, velocity, bias torque) affect the system performance. Especially, torque disturbances such as flex cable bias and windage may cause the estimate of *servo track writing error* to diverge fast because *voice coil motor* (VCM) actuator of disk drives is marginally stable system (poles are nearly on unit circle). Thus, the head does not trace the ideal track instead touches the adjacent tracks and hence causes serious error during data writing operation. Nonetheless, the effect of torque disturbance on the estimate of servo track writing error was not considered in the previous algorithms (Ho *et al.*, 2000; Melrose *et al.*, 2003).

In this study, we present a new method of compensating for the servo track writing error. In our study we consider the effect of the system parameters on the estimation of the servo track writing error. For the purpose, we introduce the state predictor that uses PES and controller output signal for its functionality. It can be shown that the predictor error has a lot of information about the servo track writing error. Hence, the predictor error is processed to produce the estimate of servo track writing error. As mentioned, the torque disturbances may cause the estimate of servo track writing error to diverge. In this study, the proper selection of the predictor gain can minimize the effect of disturbance on the estimate of servo track writing error. The estimate of servo track writing error obtained by processing the predictor error contains NRRO disturbance as well as RRO disturbance. The comb filter is used which extracts the signals synchronized with disk rotation to eliminate the NRRO component from the estimate of servo track writing error. Finally, we present the simulation results to demonstrate the effectiveness of our correction algorithm of servo track writing error.

- 6 -

II. HEAD-POSITIONING SERVO CONTROL SYSTEM

1. Servo Track Writing Error

A disk drive is a data storage device which stores digital data in concentric circles or tracks on the surface of a data storage disk, sputtered with a thin magnetic layer or recording medium. Data is read from or written to a track with the help of giant magneto-resistive (GMR) head which converts digital data into magnetic pulses and vice versa. The head floats several micro inches over the disk surface while the disk spins about its center at a constant angular velocity. The three main control modes of the head-positioning servo system are track seek mode, track settle mode and track-following mode (Fan et al., 1995). The track seek is to move head from present track to target track as quickly as possible, track settle is to guide the head safely and precisely to the center of the target track, and the track-following is to keep the head positioned over the center of target track as precisely as possible in the presence of external disturbances. Current hard disk drives uses a combination of classical control techniques, such as proximate time optimal control technique (PTOS) in seek stage, and leadlag compensators, PID controllers in case of track following stage, plus notch filters to remove the effect of high frequency resonance modes (see, e.g., Franklin, Powell, & Work-man, 1998; Fujimoto, Hori, Yamaguchi, & Nakagawa, 2000; Goh, Li, Chen, Lee, &Huang, 2001; Gu & Tomizuka, 2000; Hara, Hara, Yi, & Tomizuka, 1999; Huang, Messener, & Steele, 1997;

- 7 -

Ishikawa & Tomizuka, 1998; Iwashiro. Yatsu, & Suzuki, 1999; Yamaguchi, Soyama, Hosokawa, Tsuneta, & Hirai, 1996). The position information needed for the head-positioning control is written on the disk with the servo track writer (STW) at the time of manufacture which is called *Off-line Servo Writing or Low level formatting*. Disk is divided into large number of concentric servo tracks and each track has several servo sectors equally spaced along the track. Each servo sector contains track identification field and a group of servo bursts (small magnetic transitions) which head reads to determine the head position in reference to track center. An example of the four servo bursts (A, B, C, D) written in a particular servo sector is depicted in Fig. 1.



Fig. 1. Arrangement of four servo bursts in a servo sector.

The amplitude of readback signal from the servo burst is proportional to the fractional width of head over the burst. The amplitude of readback

- 8 -

signal varying with the head position is depicted in Fig. 2(a). The position information needed for the track following servo is the difference of A and B bursts called primary *PES* depicted in Fig. 2(b). In practice, the primary *PES* exhibits nonlinear characteristics near the track boundary so, quadrature type *PES* obtained by the difference of C and D bursts is additionally used to determine the position of the head near the track boundary.



- (b) Primary and quadrature PES.
- Fig. 2. PES versus relative head position to track center.

- 9 -

As already mentioned, when the servo tracks being written by the *servo track writer*, the *servo track writing error* can be induced by various mechanical imperfections. In an ideal disk drive system, servo tracks are concentric circles situated about the center of the disk i.e. the servo tracks center line are located at constant radius from center of the disk. In actual system, however, it is difficult to write servo tracks as perfect circles as shown in Fig. 3.



Fig. 3. Servo track writing error.

Track eccentricity can be introduced because the head to create the servo tracks cannot follow exactly the ideal path due to mechanical

- 10 -

imperfections such as disk vibration, spindle vibrations, and external vibrations. The offset distance between the ideal servo track and the eccentric actual servo track is called the *servo track writing error*. Moreover, *servo track writing error* varies from track to track. The error can be treated as one kind of *RRO* disturbance because it is synchronous with the disk rotation. It has been well known as *written-in RRO* in industry.

As the track densities increase the *written-in RRO* began to limit the track pitch. Specifically, the waviness of actual track can result in the encroachment of adjacent tracks i.e. the inner track path can be interfered with outer track path and hence leads to data loss and irrecoverable errors during data writing operation. This occurs, because the servo control tries to make the position error caused due to servo track writing error zero so that the head trace the actual track instead of the wavy real track. This causes unwanted motion of head which leads to interference with the adjacent tracks. Especially, this is severe in case of high track density disk drives. Therefore, to avoid limitations on the track pitch and for the reliable operation of the disk drive and increase the manufacturing throughput, we need to estimate the *servo track writing error* for every track and compensate for it.

- 11 -

2. System Model

In disk drives rotary *voice coil motor* (VCM) is generally used to move the heads on the disk surface. Neglecting the high-frequency flexible modes, we have the following dynamic model of the VCM actuator:

$$100 = 100 = K_a(u+w)$$
. (1)

Here, the constant K_a represents the acceleration constant of actuator. The variables x and v represent absolute head position and head velocity, respectively. In fact, the variable x indicates the gap between the head and the ideal servo track. However, the position information that we can measure is *PES* x_{PES} which is the gap between the head and the actual servo track. The relationship between x and x_{PES} is depicted in Fig. 4.



Fig. 4. Relationship between PES and head position.

- 12 -

From Fig. 4, we observe that

$$x_{PES} = x + \eta \,, \tag{2}$$

where η denotes the *servo track writing error*.

The control input u denotes VCM current and the other input w represents the disturbance torque acting on the actuator due to the flexible cable attached to the actuator. In practice, the disturbance torque varies depending on actuator positions and movement direction. However, the disturbance can be assumed to be constant with time when the actuator is almost at rest for track-following operation. Thus, we have

$$v \delta = 0. \tag{3}$$

The above equations (1) and 2 can be expressed in standard state-space form as follows

$$\dot{\mathbf{X}} = A\mathbf{X}(t) + Bu(t) \,. \tag{4}$$

$$x_{PES}(n) = \mathbf{C}\mathbf{x}(n) + \eta(n).$$
(5)

Substituting the transition, measurement matrix and state vector in (4) and (5) we have

- 13 -

$$\begin{bmatrix} \dot{\mathbf{x}}(t) \\ \dot{\mathbf{v}}(t) \\ \dot{\mathbf{w}}(t) \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \mathbf{K}_{A} \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{x}(t) \\ \mathbf{v}(t) \\ \mathbf{w}(t) \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ \mathbf{K}_{A} \\ 0 \end{bmatrix} [u(t)], \quad (6)$$

$$x_{PES} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{x}(t) \\ \mathbf{v}(t) \\ \mathbf{w}(t) \end{bmatrix} + \eta(t). \quad (7)$$

The *PES* x_{PES} is obtained at discrete times by taking the periodic samples of readback signal whenever head passes over the servo sectors. Therefore, we need to develop the discrete equivalent to the continuous-time system given by (6) and (7). Since the control input is kept constant throughout the sample period by digital to analog (D/A) converter, the zero order hold method can be used for the development.

제주대학교 중앙도서관 JEJU NATIONAL UNIVERSITY LIBRARY

If we define

$$A_{d} = e^{AT_{s}}, \qquad B_{d} = \int_{0}^{T_{s}} e^{A\eta} d\eta B,$$

$$C_{d} = C,$$
(8)

where T_s is the sampling time.

The discrete state model from the continuous-time models with out delay can be written in standard form as

- 14 -

$$\dot{\mathbf{x}} = A_d \mathbf{x}(t) + B_d u(t),$$

$$x_{PES}(n) = \mathbf{C}_d \mathbf{x}(n) + \eta(n),$$
(9)

$$\begin{bmatrix} x(n+1) \\ v(n+1) \\ w(n+1) \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & T_s & K_a T_s^2 / 2 \\ 0 & 1 & K_a T_s \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x(n) \\ v(n) \\ w(n) \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} K_a (T_s - T_d)^2 / 2 \\ K_a (T_s - T_d) \\ 0 \end{bmatrix} u(n).$$
(10)

Considering the effect of control delay by microprocessor execution additionally, we can have the following discrete-time model of actuator:

$$\mathbf{x}(n+1) = \mathbf{A}\mathbf{x}(n) + \mathbf{B}_0 u(n) + \mathbf{B}_1 u(n-1),$$

$$x_{PES}(n) = \mathbf{C}\mathbf{x}(n) + \eta(n).$$
(11)

Here, state vector \mathbf{x} , system matrix \mathbf{A} , column vectors \mathbf{B}_0 , \mathbf{B}_1 and row

vector **C** are defined by

$$\mathbf{x} = \begin{bmatrix} x \\ v \\ w \end{bmatrix}, \quad \mathbf{A} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & T_s & K_a T_s^2 / 2 \\ 0 & 1 & K_a T_s \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix},$$

$$\mathbf{B}_0 = \begin{bmatrix} K_a (T_s - T_d)^2 / 2 \\ K_a (T_s - T_d) \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}, \quad \mathbf{B}_1 = \begin{bmatrix} K_a (2T_s - T_d) T_d / 2 \\ K_a T_d \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}, \quad \mathbf{C} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}^T.$$
(12)

Here, T is the transpose of the matrix, the constants T_s and T_d are sampling period and control delay, respectively.

The matrices \mathbf{A} , \mathbf{B}_0 , \mathbf{B}_1 , \mathbf{C} can be determined as follows

- 15 -

$$A = e^{AT_s}, \qquad B_0 = \int_0^{mT_s} e^{A\eta} B d\eta,$$

$$C_d = C, \qquad B_I = \int_{mT_s}^{T_s} e^{A\eta} B d\eta.$$
(13)

In order to put equation (11) in standard state-space form, we must eliminate the term u(n-1). To do this we augment the state vector as

$$\mathbf{x}_{p}(n) = \begin{bmatrix} x(n) & v(n) & w(n) & u(n-1) \end{bmatrix}^{T}.$$
 (14)

Then, the resulting state equation becomes

$$\mathbf{x}_{p}(n+1) = \mathbf{A}_{p}\mathbf{x}_{p}(n) + \mathbf{B}_{p}u(n),$$

$$\mathbf{x}_{PES}(n) = \mathbf{C}_{p}\mathbf{x}_{p}(n) + \eta(n).$$
(15)

Here \mathbf{A}_p , \mathbf{B}_p , and \mathbf{C}_p are defined as follows:

$$\mathbf{A}_{p} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{A} & \mathbf{B}_{1} \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \quad \mathbf{B}_{p} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{B}_{0} \\ 1 \end{bmatrix}, \quad \mathbf{C}_{p} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{C} & 0 \end{bmatrix}.$$
(16)

3. Design of Baseline Controller

The object of servo control is to make head trace the center of the ideal servo track precisely. To achieve this servo control uses state feedback controller and state estimator. The control law is simply the feedback of a linear combination of all state elements. The state feedback controller can be written as

$$u(n) = -\mathbf{K}_{f} \mathbf{x}_{p}(n) = -K_{x} x(n) - K_{v} v(n) - w(n) .$$
(17)

Here, $\hat{\mathbf{x}}_{p}(n)$ is state estimate vector defined by

$$\mathbf{x}_{p}(n) = \begin{bmatrix} x(n) & v(n) & w(n) & u(n-1) \end{bmatrix}^{t},$$
(18)

and \mathbf{K}_{f} is feedback gain vector defined by

$$\mathbf{K}_{f} = \begin{bmatrix} K_{x} & K_{y} & 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \tag{19}$$

where K_x and K_v are the position gain and velocity gain, respectively. Note that the estimate \hat{w} is included in feedback to suppress the effect of constant disturbance torque w and the previous control input u(n-1) is excluded in feedback.

State estimator is used to estimate entire state vector from the position measurement and control input. The current state estimator is introduced,

- 17 -

which estimates based on the current measurement and hence provides fastest response to unknown disturbances.

$$\overline{\mathbf{x}}_{p}(n+1) = \mathbf{A}_{p} \hat{\mathbf{x}}_{p}(n) + \mathbf{B}_{p} u(n), \qquad (20)$$

$$\hat{\mathbf{x}}_{p}(n) = \overline{\mathbf{x}}_{p}(n) + \mathbf{L}_{e}[x_{PES}(n) - \mathbf{C}_{p}\overline{\mathbf{x}}_{p}(n)].$$
(21)

Here $\overline{\mathbf{x}}_p$ is the prediction estimate vector and \mathbf{L}_e is estimator feedback gain vector. The combination of the control law (17) and the state estimator (20) and (21) allows us to obtain the transfer function from *PES* x_{PES} to control input *u*. Substituting (17) in (20), we have

$$\overline{\mathbf{x}}_{p}(n+1) = (\mathbf{A}_{p} - \mathbf{B}_{p}\mathbf{K}_{f})\hat{\mathbf{x}}_{p}(n).$$
(22)

Combining (17), (21), and (22) together yields the following equation describing the dynamics of the combined controller:

$$\overline{\mathbf{x}}_{p}(n+1) = \mathbf{A}_{f}(\mathbf{I} - \mathbf{L}_{e}\mathbf{C}_{p})\overline{\mathbf{x}}_{p}(n) + \mathbf{A}_{f}\mathbf{L}_{e}x_{PES}(n),$$

$$u(n) = -\mathbf{K}_{f}(\mathbf{I} - \mathbf{L}_{e}\mathbf{C}_{p})\overline{\mathbf{x}}_{p}(n) - \mathbf{K}_{f}\mathbf{L}_{e}x_{PES}(n),$$
(23)

Here **I** is identity matrix and $\mathbf{A}_{f} = \mathbf{A}_{p} - \mathbf{B}_{p}\mathbf{K}_{f}$. From (2), (15), (23), we see that the effect of *servo track writing error* η on the control system can be described as

- 18 -

$$\mathbf{x}(z) = \frac{-P(z)C(z)}{1 + P(z)C(z)}\eta(z),$$
(24)

where P(z) is the transfer function of the actuator and C(z) is the transfer function of the combined controller. That is,

$$P(z) = \mathbf{C}_{p} (z\mathbf{I} - \mathbf{A}_{p})^{-1} \mathbf{B}_{p},$$

$$C(z) = \mathbf{K}_{f} \mathbf{L}_{e} + \mathbf{K}_{f} (\mathbf{I} - \mathbf{L}_{e} \mathbf{C}_{p}) [z\mathbf{I} - \mathbf{A}_{f} (\mathbf{I} - \mathbf{L}_{e} \mathbf{C}_{p})]^{-1} \mathbf{A}_{f} \mathbf{L}_{e}.$$
(25)

Since servo track writing error η is periodic function, we can see that the actual head position x is also periodic function in the steady-state. This implies that the actual head position x does not converge to zero and fluctuates periodically due to servo track writing error. The unwanted fluctuations can cause the head to write on the adjacent tracks, which in turn produces irrecoverable operation error. In the subsequent section, we present a new correction algorithm of servo track writing error.

JEJU NATIONAL UNIVERSITY LIBRARY

- 19 -

III. DESIGN OF SERVO TRACK WRITING ERROR ESTIMATOR

Before designing written-in RRO estimator, we briefly touch on the prior work. As shown in Fig. 5, the written-in RRO estimator in the prior work uses *PES* and controller output to estimate the servo track writing error. The controller output passes through the model plant $\hat{P}(z)$ to obtain the absolute head position which is subtracted from x_{PES} to give the estimate of written-in RRO $\hat{\eta}$. In Fig. 5, initial state $\mathbf{x}_p(0)$ contains initial head position x(0), velocity v(0), and constant bias torque w(0).



Fig. 5. Written-In RRO estimator in prior work.

If the model plant is exact, the estimate can be written as

- 20 -

$$\hat{\eta}(z) = x(z) + \eta(z) - \hat{P}(z)u(z),
= \mathbf{C}_{p}(z\mathbf{I} - \mathbf{A}_{p})^{-1}\mathbf{x}_{p}(0) + P(z)u(z) + \eta(z) - \hat{P}(z)u(z),$$

$$= \mathbf{C}_{p}(z\mathbf{I} - \mathbf{A}_{p})^{-1}\mathbf{x}_{p}(0) + \eta(z).$$
(26)

The estimation error $\hat{\eta} - \eta$ will be zero if initial plant state $\mathbf{x}_p(0)$ is zero. However, the estimation error might grow in the presence of initial plant state. Especially, it diverges with the fast rate (the second power of time) in the presence of constant bias torque. To see this, observe from (12) and (16) that

$$\det(z\mathbf{I} - \mathbf{A}_p) = z(z-1)^3, \qquad (27)$$

$$\mathbf{C}_{p}(z\mathbf{I}-\mathbf{A}_{p})^{-1}\mathbf{x}_{p}(0) = \frac{1}{z-1}x(0) + \frac{1}{(z-1)^{2}}v(0) + \frac{1}{(z-1)^{3}}w(0).$$
(28)

Now, we are ready to present a new *written-in RRO estimator* whose error decays to zero even in the presence of constant bias torque. Diagram of the proposed *written-in RRO estimator* is shown in Fig. 6. The *written-in RRO estimator* is described by

$$\overline{\mathbf{x}}_{c}(n+1) = \mathbf{A}_{p} \hat{\mathbf{x}}_{c}(n) + \mathbf{B}_{p} u(n), \qquad (29)$$

$$\hat{\mathbf{x}}_{c}(n) = \overline{\mathbf{x}}_{c}(n) + \mathbf{L}_{c} \left(x_{PES}(n) - \mathbf{C}_{p} \overline{\mathbf{x}}_{c}(n) \right),$$
(30)

$$\hat{\eta}(n) = K_c \left(x_{PES}(n) - \mathbf{C}_p \overline{\mathbf{x}}_c(n) \right).$$
(31)

This is similar to the state estimator of baseline controller in (20) and (21). The estimate of *written-in RRO* is the product of some constant K_c and prediction error. The value of the constant K_c will be determined shortly.



Fig. 6. Proposed written-in RRO estimator.

Using (15), we can rewrite (30) as

$$\hat{\mathbf{x}}_{c}(n) = \overline{\mathbf{x}}_{c}(n) + \mathbf{L}_{c}\mathbf{C}_{p}\left(\mathbf{x}_{p}(n) - \overline{\mathbf{x}}_{c}(n)\right) + \mathbf{L}_{c}\boldsymbol{\eta}(n), \qquad (32)$$

and hence rewrite (29) as

- 22 -

$$\overline{\mathbf{x}}_{c}(n+1) = \mathbf{A}_{p}\overline{\mathbf{x}}_{c}(n) + \mathbf{A}_{p}\mathbf{L}_{c}\mathbf{C}_{p}\left(\mathbf{x}_{p}(n) - \overline{\mathbf{x}}_{c}(n)\right) + \mathbf{A}_{p}\mathbf{L}_{c}\boldsymbol{\eta}(n) + \mathbf{B}_{p}\boldsymbol{u}(n).$$
(33)

Subtracting (33) from (15) and defining the prediction error as $\mathbf{x}(n) = \mathbf{x}_p(n) - \overline{\mathbf{x}}_c(n)$, we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{\hat{x}}(n+1) &= \mathbf{x}_{p}(n+1) - \overline{\mathbf{x}}_{c}(n+1), \\ &= \mathbf{A}_{p}\left(\mathbf{x}_{p}(n) - \overline{\mathbf{x}}_{c}(n)\right) - \mathbf{A}_{p}\mathbf{L}_{c}\mathbf{C}_{p}\left(\mathbf{x}_{p}(n) - \overline{\mathbf{x}}_{c}(n)\right) - \mathbf{A}_{p}\mathbf{L}_{c}\eta(n), \quad (34) \\ &= \left(\mathbf{A}_{p} - \mathbf{A}_{p}\mathbf{L}_{c}\mathbf{C}_{p}\right)\mathbf{\hat{x}}(n) - \mathbf{A}_{p}\mathbf{L}_{c}\eta(n), \quad \mathbf{\hat{x}}(0) = \mathbf{x}_{p}(0) - \overline{\mathbf{x}}_{c}(0). \end{aligned}$$

Using (15) and (34), we can describe the *written-in RRO estimator* (29-31) in standard form as

$$\begin{aligned} &\mathbf{A}(n+1) &= \left(\mathbf{A}_{p} - \mathbf{A}_{p}\mathbf{L}_{c}\mathbf{C}_{p}\right)\mathbf{A}(n) - \mathbf{A}_{p}\mathbf{L}_{c}\eta(n), \\ &\hat{\eta}(n) &= K_{c}\mathbf{C}_{p}\mathbf{A}(n) + K_{c}\eta(n). \end{aligned}$$
(35)

Taking z-transform of (35), we have

$$\hat{\eta}(z) = K_c \mathbf{C}_p \left(z \mathbf{I} - \mathbf{A}_p + \mathbf{A}_p \mathbf{L}_c \mathbf{C}_p \right)^{-1} \mathbf{K}(0) + K_c \left(1 - \mathbf{C}_p \left(z \mathbf{I} - \mathbf{A}_p + \mathbf{A}_p \mathbf{L}_c \mathbf{C}_p \right)^{-1} \mathbf{A}_p \mathbf{L}_c \right) \eta(z).$$
(36)

The first term on the right-hand side of (36) is the effect of initial prediction error $\mathbf{x}_{0}(0) = \mathbf{x}_{p}(0) - \mathbf{\overline{x}}_{c}(0)$ on the estimate $\hat{\boldsymbol{\eta}}$. As a matter of fact, it can be made to decay to zero exponentially by choosing \mathbf{L}_{c} such that $\mathbf{A}_{p} - \mathbf{A}_{p}\mathbf{L}_{c}\mathbf{C}_{p}$ is sufficiently stable. Also, we can control the convergence

- 23 -

rate because the VCM actuator (15) is observable system and hence all eigen values of $\mathbf{A}_p - \mathbf{A}_p \mathbf{L}_c \mathbf{C}_p$ can be assigned arbitrarily. Especially, the effect of initial prediction error $\mathbf{\hat{x}}(0)$ on the estimate $\hat{\boldsymbol{\eta}}$ can be eliminated perfectly by reading the estimated state $\hat{\mathbf{x}}_p(0)$ from the state estimator of baseline controller (20), (21) and setting the initial state $\mathbf{\bar{x}}_c(0)$ of the *written-in RRO estimator* (29), (31) to the estimated state. What remains is to examine the second term on the right-hand side of (36). To do so, we first need to show that the following identity holds:

$$1 - \mathbf{C}_{p} \left(z\mathbf{I} - \mathbf{A}_{p} + \mathbf{A}_{p}\mathbf{L}_{c}\mathbf{C}_{p} \right)^{-1} \mathbf{A}_{p}\mathbf{L}_{c} = \frac{\det \left(z\mathbf{I} - \mathbf{A}_{p} \right)}{\det \left(z\mathbf{I} - \mathbf{A}_{p} + \mathbf{A}_{p}\mathbf{L}_{c}\mathbf{C}_{p} \right)}.$$
 (37)

where, **I** is the identity matrix. The proof is given in Appendix. From this identity and (27), it is evident that the second term on the right-hand side of (36) is the output of certain high-pass filter with *written-in RRO* η being the input of the filter. It is reasonable to select the constant K_c so that the high-pass filter has unity gain at z = -1. That is,

$$K_{c} = \frac{\det\left(\mathbf{I} + \mathbf{A}_{p} - \mathbf{A}_{p}\mathbf{L}_{c}\mathbf{C}_{p}\right)}{\det\left(\mathbf{I} + \mathbf{A}_{p}\right)}.$$
(38)

As usual, η is high-frequency signal. Therefore, the estimate of *written-in RRO* $\hat{\eta}$ (36) is very close to the actual *written-in RRO* η . The cut-off frequency of the high-pass filter depends on the selection of \mathbf{L}_c . Selecting \mathbf{L}_c to achieve faster rejection of initial prediction error might yield

- 24 -

higher cut-off frequency and thus larger estimation error. The trade-off between rejection rate of initial prediction error and cut-off frequency of high-pass filter should be taken into account in the selection of \mathbf{L}_{c} .

The estimate $\hat{\eta}$ is used to correct *PES* in a feed-forward manner

$$x_{PES}^{c}(n) = x_{PES}(n) - \hat{\eta}(n).$$
 (39)

The corrected *PES* x_{PES}^{c} is fedback to control loop. Due to that, the control loop does not attempt to follow the actual wavy track but ideal circular track. The *written-in RRO estimator* we have discussed until now should not estimate *NRRO* disturbance because control loop should track it. However, the estimate of *written-in RRO* $\hat{\eta}$ (36) contains both *NRRO* and *written-in RRO*. Now comb filter is introduced to remove *NRRO* from the estimate $\hat{\eta}$. The filter is designed in such a way that the frequency response is 1 at integer multiples of disk rotation frequency otherwise it is zero. The desired frequency response can be expressed as

$$H^*_{comb}(e^{j\omega}) = \begin{cases} 1 & \omega = \frac{2\pi}{M}m, \quad m = 0, 1, L, M-1, \\ 0 & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$
(40)

where M is the number of servo sectors per track. In this study, we consider FIR comb filter described by

$$H_{comb}(z) = \frac{1}{N} \left(1 + z^{-M} + z^{-2M} + L + z^{-(N-1)M} \right), \tag{41}$$

- 25 -

where *N* is the number of disk revolutions. The action of the comb filter is to average the intermediate estimate $\hat{\eta}$ at each servo sector over all of the revolutions. To put it another way, it extracts frequency components synchronized with disk rotation and attenuates the other components resulted from *NRRO* disturbance. The accuracy of the comb filter (41) depends on the number of revolutions *N*. As the number of revolutions increases then the frequency response of the filter (41) approaches the desired one (40). However, every revolution increases the process time and thus should be minimized. The frequency response of the comb filter for different number of revolutions is shown in Fig. 7. In Fig. 7, frequency range is from zero (m=0) to disk rotation frequency (m=1).



Fig. 7. Frequency response of FIR comb filter.

- 26 -
IV. SIMULATION RESULTS

In this section, we present some simulation results on the performance of the proposed correction algorithm discussed in the previous section. For our simulation work, we performed simulation by using *Matlab-simulink*. We used the parameters of 3.5-inch disk drive with MR head manufactured by Samsung Co., Korea. The specifications of the disk drive used are given below.

Specification	Value
Storage capacity	80 GB/Platter
Track density	130,200 TPI
Track width	0.27 μm LIBRARY
Disk rotation speed	7,200 rpm
Servo sectors per track	232
Acceleration constant (K_a)	22,236 rad/sec ² /A
Sampling time (T_s)	35.9 µsec
Control delay (T_d)	17 μsec

Table 1. Specifications of Hard disk drive used for simulation

First we discuss the design of state feedback controller and state estimator. The *pole-placement method* is used to determine the feedback gains of state feedback controller and state estimator. To place the poles of

- 27 -

state feedback controller at $0.8503 \pm 0.045i$ and state estimator at $0.432 \pm 0.1169i$, 0.958 we have chosen the state feedback gain and state estimator gain as

$$\mathbf{K}_{f} = \begin{bmatrix} 0.2535 & 1.6494 & 1.0000 & 0 \end{bmatrix}.$$
(42)

$$\mathbf{L}_{e} = \begin{bmatrix} 0.8081 & 0.6552 & 0.1464 & 0 \end{bmatrix}^{\mathrm{T}}.$$
 (43)

For the design of written-in RRO estimator, pole-placement method was used to determine the predictor gain \mathbf{L}_c in (32). Generally, written-in RRO η is high-frequency signal. Care should be taken while choosing \mathbf{L}_c because its choice to achieve the faster rejection of initial prediction error might yield larger written-in RRO estimation error. To place the poles of the state predictor at 0.985, 0.985, 0.985, we have chosen the predictor gain as

$$\mathbf{L}_{c} = \begin{bmatrix} 0.0443 & 0.0012 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}^{\mathrm{T}}.$$
(44)
제주대학교 중앙도서관

The simulation results are illustrated in Fig. 8 through Fig. 16. Figs. 8 to 13 show the simulation results in case of the prior work while Figs. 13 to 16 shows the simulation results in case of the proposed controller. For the emulation of *written-in RRO*, the sinusoidal signal with amplitude and frequency of 1 track and 2400 Hz (20 times of disk rotation frequency) was generated and introduced artificially into the system. Initial conditions of the plant are assumed to be one track away from the target track, 0.0012 m/sec, and 0 amp for position, velocity and previous control input, respectively. Bias torque of 0.756 N-m is assumed. The initial condition of the plant affects the system performance in case of prior work. Incase of prior work

- 28 -

the *written-in RRO* is estimated using *PES* and control output. The *written-in RRO* estimation error becomes zero in the absence of initial plant state. However, the estimation error grows in the presence of initial plant state, which can be seen from (26). From Figs. 8, 9, and 10 we can see the effect of initial plant state on the estimation error. Estimation error remains to be some constant value due to initial head position, increases linearly with time in case of initial velocity, increases with second power of time in case of bias torque which can be seen through (28). Due to that estimation error the head cannot move to the target track center and especially it goes far away in the presence of initial velocity or bias torque, which can be seen from Figs. 11, 12, and 13. Especially, it diverges very fast in case of constant bias torque which can be noticed in the Fig. 13. This means that the head touches the adjacent tracks and hence causes serious error during data writing operation.

As described in the previous section, *written-in RRO* estimation error can be made to decay to zero in the presence of initial state using our proposed *written-in RRO* estimator. This is done by reading the initial state of plant from state estimator of base line controller and setting the initial state of *written-in RRO* estimator to that estimated state and with the proper selection of predictor gain. From Fig. 14, we can see that with the application of our *written-in RRO* estimator the estimation error before going through comb filter decreases and approaches toward zero in the presence of any initial state. However, it does not converge to zero perfectly because of high-pass filter action in (37). The choice of slower poles of the predictor than 0.985 can give more exact written-in RRO estimation error but yields slower convergence rate. The output of the *written-in RRO*

- 29 -

from the output of *written-in RRO estimator*. The performance of comb filter depends on the number of revolutions chosen. With the increase in number of revolutions the frequency response of the comb filter (41) approaches the desired one (40) but it results in increase of process time thus should be minimized. The revolution number of comb filter needed for *NRRO* removal is chosen as N = 8. The estimation error after comb filter is depicted in Fig. 15. From the figure, we see that the time of 8 revolutions was taken until the complete convergence. The output of comb filter is then used to correct the *PES* in feed-forward manner. The resultant signal is used by the controller to move the head to target track. With the help of our *written-in RRO estimator*, the head is made to trace the ideal track center instead of wavy track as depicted in Fig. 16. The simulation results show that the *written-in RRO* can be significantly compensated and hence the reliability of disk drive can be greatly enhanced with the application of our new correction algorithm.



- 30 -



Fig. 8. Estimation error due to initial head position in case of prior work.



Fig. 9. Estimation error due to initial head velocity in case of prior work.

- 32 -



Fig. 10. Estimation error due to initial bias torque in case of prior work.



Fig. 11. Head position due to initial head position in case of prior work.



Fig. 12. Head position due to initial head velocity in case of prior work.



Fig. 13. Head position due to initial bias torque in case of prior work.



Fig. 14. Estimation error in case of proposed controller.



Fig. 15. Estimation error after comb filter in case of proposed controller.



Fig. 16. Head position in case of proposed controller.

- 39 -

V. CONCLUSIONS

In this study, we proposed a new correction algorithm to estimate and compensate for the *servo track writing error* in disk drives. In the design of *written-in RRO estimator*, initial conditions of the plant (position, velocity, and bias torque) were considered. Due to proper selection of predictor gain and setting the initial condition of plant to the *written-in RRO estimator* the estimation error can be made decayed to zero even in the presence of flexible bias torque. The signal is compensated and the head is made to follow the centre of ideal track. The simulation results using the parameters of available hard disk through *Matlab-simulink* have demonstrated that the *written-in RRO estimator* is very effective in reducing the servo track writing error. The simulation results show that with the application of our proposed controller good track and servo performance can be obtained.

The proposed correction algorithm is robust to system parameter variations and measurement noise. Moreover, it is very effective and has fast convergence rate compared to previous algorithms. Hence this algorithm can be applied to other data storage devices such as optical drives for fast rejection of periodic disturbance.

- 40 -

VI. APPENDIX

< Proof of (37) >

We use the useful identity for determinants [*T. Kailath*, Prentice Hall, 1980]. If matrix **A** is $n \times m$ and matrix **B** is $m \times n$, then it holds that

$$\det(\mathbf{I}_m - \mathbf{B}\mathbf{A}) = \det(\mathbf{I}_n - \mathbf{A}\mathbf{B})$$
(A1)

The case where m = 1 yields that

$$1 - \mathbf{C}_{p} \left(z\mathbf{I} - \mathbf{A}_{p} + \mathbf{A}_{p}\mathbf{L}_{c}\mathbf{C}_{p} \right)^{-1} \mathbf{A}_{p}\mathbf{L}_{c} = \det \left(I_{n} - \left(z\mathbf{I} - \mathbf{A}_{p} + \mathbf{A}_{p}\mathbf{L}_{c}\mathbf{C}_{p} \right)^{-1} \mathbf{A}_{p}\mathbf{L}_{c}\mathbf{C}_{p} \right)$$
$$= \det \left(z\mathbf{I} - \mathbf{A}_{p} + \mathbf{A}_{p}\mathbf{L}_{c}\mathbf{C}_{p} \right)^{-1} \det \left(z\mathbf{I} - \mathbf{A}_{p} \right)$$
$$= \frac{\det \left(z\mathbf{I} - \mathbf{A}_{p} + \mathbf{A}_{p}\mathbf{L}_{c}\mathbf{C}_{p} \right)}{\det \left(z\mathbf{I} - \mathbf{A}_{p} + \mathbf{A}_{p}\mathbf{L}_{c}\mathbf{C}_{p} \right)}$$

- 41 -

REFERENCES

- Abramovitch, D., Hurst, T. and Henze, D. 1998. An overview of the PES pareto method for decomposing baseline noise sources in hard disk position error. *IEEE Transactions on Magnetics*, vol. 34, no. 1, pp. 17-23.
- Fan, L.-S., Ottesen, H.H., Reiley, T.C. and Wood, R. W. 1995. Magnectic Recording Head Positioning at very High Track Densities Using a Microactuater Based Two-stage Servo System. *IEEE Trans Industrial Electronics*, vol. 42, no.3, pp.222-233.
- Francis, B. and Wonham, B. 1976. The internal model principle of control theory. *Automatica*, vol.12, pp.457~465.
- Franklin, G. F., Powell, J. D. and Workman, M. L. 1998. Digital Control of Dynamic systems. (3rd ed.). Reading, MA: Addison-Wesley.
- Fujimoto, H., Hori, Y., Yamaguchi, T. and Nakagawa, S. 2000. Proposal of seeking control of hard disk drives based on perfect tracking control using multirate feedforward control. Proceedings of the sixth international work shop on advanced motion control, Nagoya, Japan (pp. 74-79).
- Goh, T. B., Li, Z., Chen, B. M., Lee, T. H. and Huang, T. 2001. Design and implementation of a hard disk drive servo system using robust and

- 42 -

perfect tracking approach. *IEEE transactions on control systems Technology*, 9(2), 221-233.

- Gu, Y. and Tomizuka, M. 2000. Digital redesign and multi-rate control for motion control- a general approach and application to hard disk drive servo system. Proceedings of the sixth international workshop on advanced motion control, Nagoya, Japan (pp. 246-251).
- Guo, G., Chen, R., Low, T.S. and Wang, Y. 2002. Optimal control design for hard disk drive servo systems. *IEE Proc.-control theory Appl.*, vol. 149, no. 3.
- Guo, L., Lee, H.S., Hudson, A. and Chen, S.H. 1999. A comprehensive time domain simulation tool for hard disk drive TPI prediction and mechanical/servo enhancement. *IEEE Transactions on Magnetics*, vol. 35, no. 2, pp. 879-884.
- Hara, S., Hara, T., Yi, L. and Tomizuka, M. 1999. Two degree-of-freedom controllers for hard disk drives with novel reference signal generation. Proceedings of the 1999 American control conference, San Diego, CA (pp. 4132-4136).
- Ho, H.T., Doan, T.Q. and Liikanen, B.A. 2000. Efficient drive-level estimation of written-in servo position error. *U.S. Patent* 6115203.

- 43 -

- Ho, H.T., Doan, T.Q. and Liikanen, B.A. 2001. Disk drive with compensation values calculated using a non-causal impulse response. U.S. Patent 6292324.
- Huang, Y., Messener, W. C. and Steele, J. 1997. Feed-forward algorithms for time-optimal settling of hard disk drive servo systems. Proceedings of the 23rd international conference on industrial electronics control and instrumentation. New Orleans, Louisiana (pp. 52-57).
- Ishikawa, J. and Tomizuka, M. 1998. A novel add-on compensator for cancellation of pivot nonlinearities in hard disk drives. *IEEE transactions on Magnetics*, 34, 1895-1897.
- Iwashiro, M., Yatsu, M. and Suzuki, H. 1999. Time optimal track seek control by model following deadbeat control. *IEEE transactions on Magnetics*, 35, 904-909.

제주대학교 중앙도서관

- Kailath, T. 1980. Linear Systems, Englewood Cliffs, Prentice Hall.
- Kempf, C., Messner, W. Tomizuka, M. and Horowitz, R. 1992. A comparison of four discrete-time repetitive control algorithms. *Proceedings of the American Control Conferences*, Chicago, Illinois.
- Kang, C.I. 2001. A new seek servo controller for acoustic noise reduction in disk drives. *Journal of information storage and processing systems*, vol. 3, 53-60.

- 44 -

- Kang, C.I. and Abed, M. 1998. Servo loop identification and compensation in hard disk head-positioning servo. *IEEE transactions on magnetics*, vol. 34, no. 4.
- Melrose, T., Ottele, A., Hargarten, J. and Finamore, D. 2003. Method and apparatus for the enhancement of embedded runout correction in a disk drive. *U.S. Patent* 6549362.
- Messner, W., and Bodson, M. 1994. Design of adaptive feedforward controllers using internal model equivalence. *Proceedings of the American Control Conferences*, Baltimore, Maryland.
- Morris, J.C., Pollock, B.R. and Ellis, T.F. 2000. Compensation for repeatable run-out error. U.S. Patent 6069764.
- Sacks, A.H., Bodson, M. and Messner, W. 1995. Advanced methods for repeatable runout compensation. *IEEE Transactions on Magnetics*, vol. 31, no. 2, pp. 1031-1036. **TRANSACTION**
- Sri-Jayantha S. M. et. al, 2001. True Track TM servo technology for high TPI disk drives. *IEEE Trans. Magnetics*, vol. 37, pp.871~ 876.
- Tomizuka, M., Tsao, T.-C. and Chew, K.K. 1989. Analysis and synthesis of discrete-time repetitive controllers. ASME J. Dynamic Syst. Measurement Contr., vol. 111, pp. 353-358.
- Venkatramanan, V., Peng, K. and Chen, B. 2003. Discrete –Time composite nonlinear feedback control with an application in design of a hard

- 45 -

disk drive servo system. *IEEE transactions on control systems technology*. Vol. 11, No. 1.

- Venkatramanan, V., Chen, B. and Lee, T.H. 2002. A new approach to the design of mode switching control in hard disk drive servo systems. Control engineering practice 10, 925~ 939.
- Weerasooriya, S., Zhang, J.L. and Low, T.S. 1996. Efficient implementation of adaptive feedforward runout cancellation in a disk drives. *IEEE Transactions on Magnetics*, vol. 32, no. 5, pp. 3920-3922.
- Yamaguchi, T., Soyama, Y., Hosokawa, H., Tsuneta, K. and Hirai, H. 1996.
 Improvement of settling response of disk drive head positioning servo using mode switching control with initial value compensation. *IEEE Transactions on Magnetics*, 32, 1767-1772.



- 46 -

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The work with this dissertation has been extensive and trying, but in the first place exciting, instructive, and fun. Without help, support, and encouragement from several persons, I would never have been able to finish this work.

I would like to express my gratitude to my advisor, Prof. Jinho Bae, for his support, patience, and encouragement throughout my graduate studies. It is not often that one finds an advisor and colleague that always finds the time for listening to the little problems and roadblocks that unavoidably crop up in the course of performing research. His technical and editorial advice was essential to the completion of this dissertation and has taught me innumerable lessons and insights on the workings of academic research in general

I am deeply indebted to Dr. Chang-Ik Kang, Researcher in Samsung Information Systems America, whose guidance, stimulating suggestions and encouragement had helped me in all the time of research and writing of this dissertation.

제주대학교 중앙도서관

Also I wish to offer my humble gratitude to professors of my department, Prof. Il- Hyoung Cho, Prof. Dong-Guk Paeng, Prof. Joonyoung Kim for their inspiring and encouraging way to guide me to a deeper understanding of knowledge work, and their invaluable comments during the whole work with this dissertation.

Also I wish to thank my fellow department members, Anjireddy Guntur, Ying Li, Minjung Kim, Herath, Seungwoo Byun, Hyukchun Ko, office assistants Byoung-Gi. Kim and Ji-Yeon Ko for their constant encouragement and support in different ways during my study with out which this piece of work could have not completed.

I must express my heartfelt gratitude and thanks to my cousin Vijay Ramu for providing the information and guidance to study in South Korea. I also like to acknowledge Anji reddy who stayed with me all the time during

- 47 -

my happy and sorrow times whose support was very much helpful in successful completion of this study.

Also, I greatly acknowledge all my friends who filled me with enough confidence, strength and made me believe in myself with which I could finish the study triumphantly.

I also thank the department for providing good environment to study, helped in rejuvenating my working standards which paved rich dividends in academic and also research achievements.

Last but not the least I show my deep gratitude to Brain Korea-21 that provided the scholarship during the period of stay.

Finally, I will never find words enough to express the gratitude that I owe to my parents, sister and nephew. Their tender love and affection has always been the cementing force for building the blocks of my academic career. The all round support rendered by them provided the much needed stimulant to sail through the phases of stress and strain.

I would like to thank all those whom I have not mentioned above but helped me in numerous ways to my success.



